1971

Zions Cooperative Mercantile Institution v.
Jacobsen Construction Co., John Graham and
Company, Dames and Moore, Keith W. Wilcox,
Individually, and Keith W. Wilcox and Associates,
and F. C. Torkelson Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF CASE

Plaintiff brought this action against the architects, contractor and sub-contractor for damages suffered as a result of the collapse of the sheet pile retaining wall during the erection of plaintiff's new department store building in Ogden, Utah. Plaintiff sued the various

defendants for costs of reconstruction of the retaining wall and damages incident to its collapse.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

After completion of pretrial discovery, the case was assigned to Judge Leonard W. Elton for pretrial and for hearing of arguments on Motions for Summary Judgment filed by the parties. The pretrial conference, including the hearings on the motions, lasted for about two days, during which time certain documents were admitted into evidence for the purpose of consideration during the arguments. It was also agreed by the parties at the pretrial that F. C. Torkelson & Company had provided an adequate design for the support of the sheet pile wall based on the information they received concerning soil data from Dames & Moore. By stipulation, the Court dismissed Torkelson & Company from the suit. It was also agreed by the remaining parties that there was no evidence at the time the motions were argued to indicate that Jacobsen had negligently or improperly constructed the supporting system or that it was not done in accordance with the design and drawings provided by the design engineers, Torkelson & Company. The Court then informed all concerned that the motions would be taken under advisement and upon making a ruling on the motions, the Court would draft a pretrial order in accordance therewith. Prior to making any rulings or the preparation of any pretrial order, Judge Elton died. The case was then reassigned to the

Honorable Bryant H. Croft, Judge, who again set the matter on the calendar for disposition and at the request of this defendant and others, a morning session was held where brief arguments were heard concerning the Motions for Summary Judgment.

Thereafter, Judge Croft filed a Memorandum Decision (R-370). In the Judge's decision, he ruled as a matter of law that defendant, Jacobsen, was negligent and that its negligence proximately caused or contributed in causing the failure of the sheet pile wall, resulting in plaintiff's damage. The Court also denied Jacobsen's Motion for Summary Judgment against the plaintiff on the ground of payment by the plaintiff to Jacobsen for the damages now sought to be recovered. The Court further ruled in its Memorandum Decision that defendant Jacobsen's defense of payment raised against the plaintiff was an invalid defense and could not be raised as an issue at the time of trial of the case. The Court denied all other Motions for Summary Judgment. From the Court's Summary Judgment against Jacobsen, this appeal is taken.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks reversal of the Summary Judgment granted by the lower court and for a trial on all issues of fact, or in the alternative, for an order dismissing plaintiff's complaint based upon issues of law presented in Jacobsen's Motion for Summary Judgment.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In order to promote clarity, the appellant will hereinafter be referred to as Jacobsen and the respondent as ZCMI.

Since this appeal is taken from an Order of Summary Judgment, Jacobsen will review all facts and reasonable inferences to be drawn therefrom in a light most favorable to Jacobsen. (Young vs. Texas Company, 8 Ut.2nd 206, 331 P.2nd 1099.)

ZCMI employed John Graham & Company, a Seattle, Washington architectural firm, to design a new department store to be located in Ogden, Utah (R-7). Thereafter, a site was selected for the new department store to be located on Washington Boulevard and 24th Street at the northeast corner of the intersection (Exhibit 24-P).

ZCMI desired construction to commence as soon as possible. It employed Jacobsen to construct the building on a cost-plus basis rather than submit the job to public bid. Jacobsen was to receive a set fee for the construction of the building plus the costs of labor and materials, and sub-contract costs (R-13). As the job progressed, Jacobsen was to submit periodic statements to the architects for their certificate of approval and thereafter receive payment from ZCMI. It was also provided in the contract that certain expenses, such as employment of sub-contractors, were to be submitted to the architects for approval prior to their employment (R-14, P.d).

Jacobsen's contract with ZCMI was entered into on or about August 2, 1965 and thereafter, Jacobsen commenced demolition of the existing structures located at the construction site. At the time of demolition, all existing utility lines within the boundary of the construction site were either shut off or removed. After the land had been cleared, Jascobsen commenced driving sheet pile along the east boundary of the construction site to retain the alley way. Excavation was to occur west of the alley for the basement of the new building. The land where the building was to be erected sloped from east to west. The sheet piling used was approximately 40 feet long and 16 inches wide, with an edge that permitted one sheet to be interlocked with the adjoining sheet as the piling was driven, resulting in a continuously joined steel wall running north and south along the alley way. The piling was driven to ground level before any excavation had commenced. The excavation was to occur west of the sheet pile wall at a depth of approximately 30 feet, leaving approximately ten feet of the sheet piling into the earth below the bottom of the excavation. The exposed area of the sheet piling was then to be braced into the excavated area by the use of steel bracing supported by thrust blocks in the floor of the excavation (Exhibits 27-P, 3-P and 36-P). The driving of the sheet piling was sub-contracted to Raymond Pile Driving Company, specialists in this field. While the piling was being driven but before any excavation had occurred, defendant, Dames & Moore Company, soil consultants and engineers, contacted

Jacobsen and asked that they be hired to provide Jacobsen with the necessary engineering and soil survey data from which structural engineers could design the support system for the sheet pile wall. (Deposition of Warren D. Curtis, pgs. 11-13). Dames & Moore hold themselves out as consultants in applied earth sciences, soil mechanics, engineering geology, and geophysics (Exhibit 3-P).

Jacobsen requested that the architects approve and ZCMI grant authority to employ Dames & Moore for the purpose mentioned above. Approved was received. Dames & Moore thereafter prepared a document entitled "Consultation Regarding Lateral Support" and delivered the same to Jacobsen wherein there was furnished design criteria and engineering data to be used by consulting structural engineers in the design of the support system for the retaining wall (Exhibit 3-P). Jacobsen then employed F. C. Torkelson & Co. design engineers, to design the support system for the sheet pile wall based upon the Dames & Moore data.

Jacobsen followed the design system provided by Torkelson and installed the necessary support system. Before the accident occurred, the entire support system had been installed and excavation completed. The driving of structural piling was in progress immediately preceding the accident. There had been approximately 300 structural piles driven into the floor of the excavation which were to remain there permanently in support of the building. Concrete pile caps were poured over the top of the structural piling upon which foot-

ings were to rest. Dames & Moore provided a full-time engineer on the job site to supervise the structural pile driving operation and to make reports to his company concerning the same. In addition thereto, the defendant, Wilcox, an architect and engineer residing in the Ogden area was employed by John Graham & Company to act as its local representative in inspecting the construction and to make reports as required by the architects' contract.

The day before Thanksgiving, November 23, 1965, there had been driven all but one or two structural piles. During the Thanksgiving Day Holiday, the sheet pile wall collapsed into the excavated area causing an enormous amount of water and mud to pour into the construction site. It was discovered that behind the sheet pile wall on the east, running from south to north, was buried a six-inch high-pressure water main in the alley way. This line had ruptured, causing a large quantity of water to escape into the earth behind the sheet pile wall. In doing so, unexpectd pressures built up behind the wall. The wall was not designed to withstand such pressure and failed.

A visual examination of the premises also revealed that north and east of the sheet pile wall, and not on the construction site itself, was located a fire hydrant in the alley way. The water main that ruptured was servicing this hydrant (Exhibit 22-P).

Two weeks prior to the rupture of the water line and collapse of the sheet pile wall, it was noted that

a crack was developing along the alley way running parallel with the sheet pile wall. This crack was observed by the employee of Dames & Moore, the soil engineer. The employee reported the development of the crack to his superiors in Salt Lake City. He was told to keep track of the movement of the wall. He also took photographs of the crack and delivered them to his superiors (Exhibits 45-P and 46-P). Mr. Warren Curtis, the local partner of Dames & Moore, after viewing the photographs and receiving the information from his employee, Mr. Kochevar, went to the construction site in Ogden to observe the cracks personally. He concluded that there was no hazard presented to the construction site if there were no utilities in the alley way at the time. Mr. Curtis admits that certain holes had been drilled in the alley way and that data had been obtained and provided to the architects regarding the sub-soils of the area so that an adequate foundation could be designed. In addition thereto, Mr. Curtis admitted Dames & Moore never checked for the existence of water lines in the area before the test holes were drilled. He also admitted that no such investigation had ever been conducted by his company prior to furnishing its consultation report to Jacobsen or even after having received notice of the development of the crack in the alley. (Deposition of Warren Curtis, p. 15, and pgs, 86, 87, 104 and 105.) After observing the crack in the alley way, Mr. Curtis testified in his deposition that he told Kochevar to inquire of Jacobsen's employees whether or not there were any utility

lines in the alley way. The Dames & Moore employees testified that they made inquiries of Jacobsen employees about the same and were told there were none. The Jacobsen employees specifically deny that any inquiries were ever made. (Deposition of Warren Curtis, p. 16; deposition of Richard Sperry, p. 26; deposition of Steve Jacobsen, p. 22.)

The lower court's Memorandum Decision granted summary judgment, based upon facts which the court assumed to be undisputed. However, the court reserved to the parties the right to dispute these facts at trial if they so desired (R-378).

Before any construction had been started on the job site, a site survey of existing utilities was made by the survey firm of Caldwell, Richards & Sorensen at the request of the Seattle architects, John Graham & Company. In this survey and drawing, reference was made to the location of a water main and a hydrant but the drawing was never provided to Jacobsen for use on the job site (Exhibits 22-P and 24-P; Deposition of Richard Scales, p. 13). The architects did provide a bound document entitled "Design Criteria and Outline Specifications," which stated therein "six-inch line along alley." This appeared under the utility section (Exhibit 1-P). It was apparent from the testimony of the persons on the job site that everyone thought the water main referred to in the design criteria ran from the hydrant north of the construction site to 23rd Street and was not behind the retaining wall (Deposition of Steve Jacobsen, pgs. 7, 8 and 9).

After the wall failed, a new sheet pile wall was installed and construction continued. To ascertain the cause of the failure of the wall, ZCMI employed Dames & Moore Company to make such a determination. Their report is on file herein as Exhibit 4-P and contains a survey of the damage to the site and then states "The approximate location of the line is shown on Plate I. This fire line was not used for other water service purposes and had not been found in the normal identification of the utility lines for construction." (Exhibit 4-P, Page 3.)

ZCMI filed its complaint on July 12, 1966. In the complaint, it alleged that Jacobsen was negligent in the erection of the sheet pile wall, causing damage to to the plaintiff as set forth in the complaint. Jacobsen filed an answer to the complaint and set forth its defenses denying its negligence as claimed by the plaintiff and affirmatively alleging that it had been paid by ZCMI for the work performed and its payment was a defense to the plaintiff's claim. After ZCMI received its report from Dames & Moore as to the probable cause of the failure of the wall and after more than one (1) year had elapsed from receipt of this report, it nevertheless made final payment to Jacobsen for the costs involved in the construction of the building and in addition thereto, and over one (1) year after filing this law suit, paid Jacobsen its profit in the job.

POINTS FOR REVERSAL

POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT BASED UPON DISPUTED ISSUES OF FACT.

POINT II

THE COURT ERRED IN RULING AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT PAYMENT TO JACOBSEN BY ZCMI WOULD NOT DEFEAT RECOVERY BY ZCMI AND COULD NOT BE MADE AN ISSUE AT TRIAL.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT BASED UPON DISPUTED ISSUES OF FACT.

All gas, electric and water lines, including sewer connections, had been capped or removed from the construction site before any construction began. Jacobsen had employed experts, Dames & Moore, to investigate and provide necessary soil data and stress figures to be used in the design and installation of a retaining system for the sheet pile wall. They were selected with the approval and consent of the architects and ZCMI. Jacobsen relied on the experts that were hired. When

Warren Curtis, a partner in Dames & Moore, was asked about the investigation his company was to have made before submitting the report concerning lateral support of the wall (Exhibit 3-P), Mr. Curtis stated:

“Q: After you got the sheet pile engagement from Leo Jacobsen, did you conduct another field investigation in connection with the sheet pile bracing?

“A: No. We used the data that we had developed in the initial investigation, that is, the test data. We conducted the analysis in relation to this particular job.”

(Deposition of Warren Curtis, p. 15.)

Mr. Curtis stated that when he contacted Mr. Jacobsen concerning his company's employment to furnish data for the supporting structure of the sheet pile wall, he agreed to go to the site and look over the situation and obtain data regarding physical dimensions to be satisfied. He was asked in his deposition

“Q: Did you specifically ask Mr. Jacobsen whether there were any water lines in the vicinity of the sheet pile wall?

“A: No. I think I raised the question of utility lines.

“Q: Does Dames & Moore ever make an investigation to find out whether there are utility lines in the soil where you are working on soil mechanics and movement?

“A. No. We specialize in soil mechanics as such.”
(Deposition of Warren Curtis, pgs. 16 and 18.)

Mr. Curtis was asked whether or not he made inquiry or asked about a utility survey that might be on the job showing location of the utilities outside of the construction area.

“Q: Did you ask if there was one, a site survey?

“A: No. It obviously just wasn't there so if it wasn't in the normal place, I made the assumption or assumed that there had been no site survey made.”

(Deposition of Warren Curtis, p. 19.)

Mr. Curtis testified that prior to doing the soil survey for the sheet pile wall, his company had been employed by the architects to core drill the alley way and other locations on the construction site itself to determine the type of soil involved in support for the new building. He was asked if at this time, his company made any search concerning utilities in the area while making these tests. He responded as follows:

“Q: You were on the location at one or more occasions when they were making these various bore tests?

“A: Yes. I believe I was.

“Q: Now, in order to do your boring, do you not have to find out in the areas where you propose to bore whether or not there is any underground water pipe, gas lines, and various utilities?

“A: We probably do, yes.

“Q: And would this encompass a utility check so that you don't drill through one of the gas mains, or something?

“A. I’d have to check. We are always concerned about that in a general sense. I’d have to check back as to what specifically was done in this instance.

“Q: Normally, would you do this before you made your drills or your borings, check to find out where you were drilling?”

“A: We would be concerned as to the presence of utility lines.”

(Deposition of Warren Curtis, pgs. 86 and 87.)

It was the employee of Dames & Moore that noticed the crack developing in the alley way as is evidenced by Exhibit 45-P.

Mr. Curtis, upon being informed of the crack, went to the construction site, and made personal observations. He was asked whether or not, after making an inspection of the area, he saw the fire hydrant in question. He answered that he remembered seeing the hydrant but it did not register to him as such. (Deposition of Warren Curtis, pgs. 104 and 105.) Mr. Curtis was also questioned about the procedure of Dames & Moore in making their survey prior to assembling their data.

“Q: And in your prior procedures, have you checked to see if you were drilling into utilities in the alley or would you just go ahead and drill?”

“A: Sometimes we would go ahead and drill. I would point out that the process of searching becomes rather expensive, and like every other business, we’re on a tight budget, and we have our time rather rigorously sched-

uled, and it is going to take quite a bit of time to chase down utilities so we would exercise judgment as to what might occur. Certainly, if we had reason to believe the utility line might be present, it would be checked out. More often or not, this information is available to us from the people with whom we are dealing."

(Deposition of Warren Curtis, p. 89.)

Warren Curtis, in answer to questions about any inquiries he personally made about utilities, stated

"Q: Did you ever mention to any of Jacobsen's employees, supervisory employees on the job, the extreme importance of a water line being in the alley way after the alley started to crack?

"A: Yes. That is a matter of record.

"Q: I say, did you?

"A: No, I did not personally. Mr. Kochevar was on the job and I asked him to pass that information along.

"Q: So what you are saying today is, then, if it was done, it was done by Mr. Kochevar but not you, is that correct?

"A: That is correct."

(Deposition of Warren Curtis, pgs. 95 and 95.)

Curtis was finally asked:

"Q: I say it would be accurate to say, then, that Dames & Moore relied on Mr. Kochevar's report to them as to his conversations about utilities with others rather than any investigation made on their own?

“A: That is correct.”

(Deposition of Warren Curtis, p. 97.)

Steve Jacobsen testified that the employees of Dames & Moore told him there was no water line behind the sheet pile wall. (Deposition of Steve Jacobsen, pgs. 7 and 8.)

Mr. Ralph Wadsworth, then an engineer for F. C. Torkelson Company, and the person directly responsible for designing the support system for the sheet pile wall, was questioned in his deposition about the importance of having data showing the existence of a water main lying behind the sheet pile wall in the alley way. He was asked

“Q: Would that have been a concern of yours if you had known that there was a water line in the area of the wall?”

“A: Sure.

“Q: Would it have been a concern?”

“A: Well, we’d either have to turn off the water if we could or move the later line or design for the possibility of the water pressure. We have to take this into consideration on design.

“Q: Why is that? Because of a possibility that the line might break?”

“A: Yes.

“Q. How might the pipe be broken?”

“A: By driving of the piles.

“Q: Did the sheet pile wall that you designed allow for some deflection, some take-up, some movement?”

“A: Sure. They all move, sheet piling walls.”
(Deposition of Ralph Wadsworth, p. 18.)

He was then asked who provides the data concerning water lines or utility lines near the sheet pile structure for use in his design of the supporting system.

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