1971

Zions Cooperative Mercantile Institution v.
Jacobsen Construction Co., John Graham and
Company, Dames and Moore, Keith W. Wilcox,
Individually, and Keith W. Wilcox and Associates,
and F. C. Torkelson Company : Brief of
Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

That proposition needs only one other link to make out a case against Jacobsen: If Jacobsen knew, or should have known, that the pipe was in the alley by the sheet pile wall, should it or would it, in the exercise of ordinary care, have known that the pipe was in danger of being broken by construction activities and circumstances known to Jacobsen to exist, with foreseeable damage to the site? Assuming an affirmative answer to that question, it is ipso facto that Jacobsen owed ZCMI a duty immediately to take some steps to prevent what occurred from happening (simply having the water turned off or relocating the pipe would have eliminated the hazard).

The record supports these propositions without any genuine controversy.

- A. THERE IS NO GENUINE ISSUE AS TO THE FACT THAT JACOBSEN KNEW A WATER LINE IN THE ALLEY BY THE SHEET PILE WALL WOULD CONSTITUTE A HAZARD.

Richard Sperry, Jacobsen's superintendent on the ZCMI job, gave perhaps the most revealing testimony of any witness. The flavor of it was distilled in the following exchange (Sperry Depo. p. 59), which Steve Jacobsen agreed with in his deposition, p. 31):

"Q. And I assume that whenever a construction job is being performed in a city, that water lines, power lines, gas lines, things of that nature are a matter of concern during the excavation?

A. That's right. Actually they're a matter of concern during the whole job. I've broke my share of them."

Sperry was concerned with water lines in the alley from the very first day he went on the job (Sperry Depo. pp. 57-58):

"A. I asked the first day I was there.

Q. Pardon?

A. I asked the very first day I was there when I saw the mess that was in the alley."

Both Steve and Leo Jacobsen shared Mr. Sperry's concern about water lines:

"Q. If you had knowledge of a water line in that alley east of the sheet pile wall, would you have been concerned?

A. Very much so.

Q. And that is because of the earth movement against the sheet pile wall might break the line?

A. That is correct."

(Stephen Jacobsen Depo. p. 16)

"Q. Would it be important on a building project like this to locate water lines before sheet piling was driven?

A. I would say it's very important.

Q. Particularly if one ran east and west intersecting the sheet piling being driven?

A. Yes.

Q. And would it also be a matter of concern that the sheet pile wall would deflect some and the soil would move and the water line could be broken by that?

A. I am sure that is part of our concern.

Q. It would be a matter of concern, wouldn't it.

A. Yes."

(Leo Jacobsen Depo. p. 11)

B. THERE IS NO GENUINE ISSUE AS TO THE FACT THAT JACOBSEN KNEW THERE WAS EARTH MOVEMENT IN THE ALLEY AND THAT SUCH MOVEMENT COULD BREAK A WATER LINE LIKE THE ONE IN QUESTION.

Mr. Sperry was detailed and graphic in his deposition with regard to the constant subsidence and movement in the earth in the alley behind the retaining wall, including his knowledge of the crack in the alleyway depicted in the photographs marked as Exs. 45-P and 46-P. (Sperry Depo. pp. 8, 16-21, 25-26, 27, 35-37, 59, 61).

The gist of that testimony is contained in the following statements:

"Oh, there was movement there all the time.

Q. Approximately how much, if you know?

A. Oh, I'd say the alley probably settled 18 inches during the course of it, and we'd fill it back.

(p. 16)

* * *

Q. But you did have a general subsidence going along all the time?

A. All the time."

(p. 59)

And, Mr. Sperry was acutely aware of the disastrous effect such earth movement could have on any water line in the alley.

"Q. Would six inches of settlement, if it were in an area containing a cast iron jointed water pipe, be sufficient to crack it?

A. I'd say any settlement is enough to crack it. I've seen them crack from an eighth of an inch to quarter inch of settlement.

Q. Well, six inches is a considerable amount, is it not?

A. I can't see how it lasted as long as it did.

(p. 61)

* * *

A. . . . I just couldn't believe that it wasn't already broke before we already started because we broke them a lot easier than that. I mean, a broken water line is not really new to us. But I couldn't see how there could possibly be any utilities in the alley with the damage of the alley before I got there.

Q. And so up until November 25, 1965, it was your opinion that there were no water lines in the alley?

A. That's right. I figured if there was one there they should have been flooded the first day they was there. If you'd seen the conditions of the alley, nobody could think there was anything in it.

(p. 37)

The Jacobsen people were so concerned about movement of the sheet pile wall that they kept a transit on it at all times, with Steve Jacobsen being responsible to record any movement in the wall. Steve officially noted movement in the wall of up to four inches. (Stephen Jacobsen Depo. pp. 10-13). Steve was also aware that earth movement can be a hazard to a water line:

"Q. When earth moves could that cause a hazard to a water line . . .

A. I am sure it could.

(p. 13)

* * *

Q. If you had knowledge of a water line in that alley east of the sheet pile wall would you have been concerned?

A. Very much so.

Q. And that is because of the earth movement against the sheet pile wall might break the line?

A. That is correct."

(p. 16)

Leo Jacobsen also knew of earth movement in the alley and shared the view that such movement could break a

water line in the alley. (Leo Jacobsen Depo. pp. 11, 30, 56-57).

C. THERE IS NO GENUINE ISSUE AS TO THE FACT THAT JACOBSEN HAD ACTUAL OR CONSTRUCTIVE KNOWLEDGE OF THE EXISTENCE OF A WATER LINE IN THE ALLEY.

Prior to November 1, 1965, Jacobsen admits having received a document prepared by Graham entitled "Design Criteria and Outline Specification," which stated at page 6:

"8 utilities

a. water: city water 12" main along Washington Blvd.; 6" along 24th Street; 6" line along alley. Use domestic, fire protection, planter sprinklers, and hose bibbs at grade and parking on roof."

(Request for Admissions serviced by ZCMI on Jacobsen on November 12, 1969, R. 177).

Jacobsen's officers either did not read the document or forgot what they had read. If they did not read it, they, nevertheless, are "deemed conversant of it." *O'Reilly v. McClean*, 84 Utah 551, 37 P.2d 770 (1934).

In addition, the existence of the fire hydrant in the alley adjacent to the construction site (known to and viewed with considerable interest by all of the Jacobsen personnel) should at the very least have amounted to constructive notice that there was a water line in the alley. While the Jacobsen people steadfastly insist that they made oral inquiries as to the line serving the fire hydrant, which inquiries allegedly led them to believe that the line came from the north, instead of from the south along the

east side of the construction site, (Sperry Depo. pp. 60-61, 65-66; Stephen Jacobsen Depo. pp. 8-9, 38, 45; Leo Jacobsen Depo. pp. 43-45), they utterly failed to make any formal investigation (Sperry Depo. pp. 27, 70, 78; Steve Jacobsen Depo. pp. 8, 21, 39). Stephen Jacobsen appropriately summed up the situation when he said (Depo. p. 21):

A. I would seriously doubt it because we never made, to my knowledge, any investigation."

Leo Jacobsen also underscored the fact that their belief that the hydrant was served from the north was based on "an informal determination." (Leo Jacobsen Depo. p. 9).

Under these circumstances, even if Jacobsen did not know of the existence of the water line in the alley, it certainly *should* have known in the exercise of reasonable care. In fact, Leo Jacobsen admitted that Jacobsen's failure to make a formal inquiry with regard to the water line question was contrary to the company's customary practice. (Leo Jacobsen Depo. pp. 53-54).

D. JACOBSEN'S ONLY STATED DEFENSE DOES NOT EXCUSE ITS NEGLIGENCE.

In its brief to this Court (Br. 11-22), Jacobsen's attempt to escape its negligence reduces itself to just one basic argument. Jacobsen contends that since it hired Dames & Moore to design the bracing system for the sheet pile wall, Jacobsen should have been able to rely on Dames & Moore, as experts, to locate the water line in the alley behind the wall and design the wall so as to

protect the pipe from breaking. However, as indicated by the considerable testimony quoted hereinabove, the Jacobsen people were sufficiently expert and experienced themselves to know that any movement of the earth in the alley might break a water line if one was there. And, as also indicated by the many citations to the record above, the Jacobsen people had actual knowledge that their construction activities (including driving the sheet piles with a 60 ton pile driver—Sperry Depo. pp. 35-37) were causing movement of the earth in the alley.

The very fact that the Jacobsen people would allow sheet pilings to be driven up to 45 feet into the ground without making a formal investigation to determine if there were any water lines in the vicinity would indicate negligence in and of itself, and that part of the construction was almost completed *prior* to the Dames & Moore people ever having been retained to design the bracing. (See, e.g., Curtis Depo. p. 11). Moreover, the Jacobsen people admit that they were concerned about water lines in the alley, independent of any involvement by Dames & Moore. Richard Sperry testified (Depo. p. 65) :

“Q. And did you have any opinion before Thanksgiving as to how that particular hydrant may have been served?

A. I just—Just what I asked Les Tracy. And he told me it serviced another street.

Q. Do you know if you saw that the first day you arrived on the job?

A. Yes.

Q. Were you immediately concerned about the possibility of there being a pipe serving that in the alley?

A. Yes."

The fact that there was considerable soul searching in the Jacobsen organization following the sheet pile wall collapse as to why the water line had not been located, amounts to an admission on their part that they erred in not having found out about the line. See, e.g., Leo Jacobsen Depo. pp. 9, 10; Sperry Depo. pp. 31-32).

Certainly, Jacobsen realized that the responsibility for shoring the alley rested upon it. (Leo Jacobsen's Depo. pp. 16, 34-35; Ex. 8-P).²

E. JACOBSEN MAY NOT ESCAPE THE SUMMARY JUDGMENT AGAINST IT MERELY BY ASSERTING THAT FACTUAL ISSUES EXIST.

Jacobsen represents to this Court that factual issues with respect to its possible negligence exist. However, the undisputed facts, as reviewed above, belie such an assertion. In *Foster v. Steed*, 19 Utah 2d, 435, 438, 432 P.2d 60, 62 (1967), this Court, quoting its own opinion in

² Jacobsen's responsibility was contractual as well, and Judge Croft granted ZCMI's motion for summary judgment on grounds of breach of contract in addition to that of negligence (R. 384). ZCMI re-asserts breach of contract here and urges this Court to affirm the Lower Court's decision on that point. However, no extended argument is made on the point since the contract provision is clear on its face. And, if the document entitled "General Conditions of the Contract" is considered to be contractually binding (as urged by Jacobsen in its argument on payment, Br. 24-25), then Jacobsen's contractual responsibility becomes even more explicit. (See, e.g., Ex. 2-P p. 1).

The facts are as follows. Following the wall collapse ZCMI caused Dames & Moore immediately to look into possible causes and submit a report. (Dean Williams Dep. p. 9). That report, submitted on January 25, 1966 (Ex. 4-P,) suggested possible negligence upon someone's part, but no conclusive evidence appeared indicating what party might be negligent. ZCMI *immediately* notified all the parties to this lawsuit that action would be taken to determine who was liable (if anyone) and to recover from any party found to be liable. (Dean Williams Affidavit, pars. 3-6; R. 270-271; Leo Jacobsen Depo. pp. 50-52).

Counsel for ZCMI informed it that liability, if any, could only be determined through a lawsuit. (Dean Williams Affidavit, par. 6, R. 271). And, not only was ZCMI not in a position until the Lower Court's ruling in this case, to know of the many parties involved exactly against whom, if any, it had a valid claim, it did not even know the extent of the damage it suffered until Jacobsen informed it of the amount in June, 1966. (Dean Williams Affidavit, pars. 7-8, R. 271-272, and exhibits thereto). This case was filed in July, 1966.

All during the period November 25, 1965 through June, 1966, ZCMI was making regular payments to Jacobsen through billings from the architect. The billings did not segregate specific parts of the amount involved to be for repair of the damage in question, but most of the cost of repairing the damage was probably paid *prior* to the receipt by ZCMI of the Dames & Moore

report. (Dean Williams Affidavit, R. 272, par. 9).³ The complaint, filed in July, 1966, specifically sought recovery of amounts already paid to Jacobsen.⁴

After this suit was filed in 1966 the record shows it to have been vigorously pursued by all parties, including Jacobsen, to the present time, five years later.

In 1967, ZCMI, as required by its contracts with the various defendants, completed the final installments of payments it had been making continuously and regularly to them and to all those working on its new store. (Dean Williams Affidavit, par. 11, R. 273).

None of those payments carried the slightest suggestion that ZCMI was waiving or abandoning any claim or right which it had (Dean Williams Affidavit, par. 11, R. 273). And, the record shows that the payments caused no interruption in the progress of this lawsuit.

Two years after final payment to it, in which time activity by all parties to this suit continued unabated, Jacobsen filed a motion for summary judgment asserting that the payment two years before had relieved it as a matter of law of any need to pay even if it was negligent.

Upon these facts it is impossible to conceive of any rational basis or justification for extending the general

³ It should be noted that all references to Dean Williams' Affidavit as other references to the record in this brief, are undisputed by any evidence elsewhere in the record.

⁴ The reason why ZCMI paid Jacobsen appears in Mr. Williams' affidavit but it is not listed here because a factual difference may exist on the point.

rule on payment to a new area wholly remote from the reason for which the rule exists. The payments in question were paid before ZCMI had any knowledge that it had a claim against anyone (prior to January 25, 1966). The claim now asserted to be barred was against multiple parties with no way for ZCMI to know whether the claim would be determined to be really against Jacobsen. Jacobsen itself obviously did not regard any payment it received as a waiver or a bar since it continued its activities in this suit unabated for two more years before it followed up the argument it now pursues. And, surely no payment was used to postpone or delay litigation, or to lull Jacobsen into letting evidence grow cold or to jeopardize its defense, or any other right, one iota.

In any case, the general rule on payment would not apply here by its very terms. In situations where the rule does apply, payment must be made with full knowledge of the facts. In this case, however, no such knowledge existed. As already stated, the payments for the damage in question were made (1) prior to January 25, 1966, when ZCMI received the Dames & Moore report suggesting that someone may be at fault in a certain particular; and (2) prior to knowledge of the extent of the damage costs (Dean Williams Affidavit, pars. 7, 8, R. 271, 272).

This suit was brought in July, 1966, seeking to recover the payments made *prior* to that time and mostly prior to January 25, 1966. The recovery sought related to specific payments already made and has nothing to do with *subsequent* payments, notwithstanding Jacob-

sen's confusion of the issue by allusion to those payments. In fact Jacobsen's original answer referred to those prior payments, not to substantial payments.

There certainly is no genuine question on the record with regard to the fact that payments made by ZCMI to Jacobsen at *any* time, and certainly prior to July, 1966, were made without full knowledge of facts regarding liability on Jacobsen's part. Such knowledge by ZCMI did not ripen until just prior to the filing of its motion for summary judgment in the fall of 1969, and, as shown by Jacobsen's continued defense, the question will remain open until action by this Court. Just to illustrate the development of facts in this case—Wadsworth's deposition was not taken until October 28, 1968; Steve Jacobsen's deposition on September 15, 1969; Leo Jacobsen's deposition on September 15, 1969; Scales deposition on May 2, 1968; Huff's deposition on October 28, 1968; Harrison's deposition on May 2, 1968; Curtis' deposition on October 28, 1968—and so on. Other discovery, as the record shows, was also under way. It was not even settled until pretrial that the engineer, Torkelson, would be let out on the ground that improper design, as determined at that time, was not the cause of the damage.

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